Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

Masters Theses

Graduate College

Spring 2017

Interpersonal Impressions of Emoji Use in Computer-Mediated Decision Making

Austin Jonathan Beattie Western Michigan University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/masters_theses

Part of the Communication Technology and New Media Commons, Interpersonal and Small Group Communication Commons, and the Social Media Commons

Recommended Citation

Beattie, Austin Jonathan, "Interpersonal Impressions of Emoji Use in Computer-Mediated Decision Making" (2017). *Masters Theses*. 931. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/masters_theses/931

This Masters Thesis-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.





INTERPERSONAL IMPRESSIONS OF EMOJI USE IN COMPUTER-MEDIATED DECISION MAKING

by

Austin Jonathan Beattie

A thesis submitted to the Graduate College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts School of Communication Western Michigan University April 2017

Thesis Committee:

Autumn Edwards, Ph.D., Chair Chad Edwards, Ph.D. Kathleen Propp, Ph.D.

INTERPERSONAL IMPRESSIONS OF EMOJI USE IN COMPUTER MEDIATED DECISION MAKING

Austin J. Beattie, M.A.

Western Michigan University, 2017

Text-messaging is among the most popular forms of computer-mediated communication (CMC). However, the lack of most nonverbal cues in text-messaging interaction limits communication in certain contexts. Some recent innovations, such as emoji, attempt to enhance nonverbal limitations in text messaging. However, despite ample scholarship in text messaging, nonverbal communication, and CMC, a smaller body of research explores their intersections. This study reviews literature in these areas and, through the lens of Media Richness Theory, offers several hypotheses regarding the effects of emoji on interpersonal impressions in a decision-making scenario. It then experimentally tests and quantitatively measures how emoji usage in decision making impacts perceptions of message source interpersonal attractiveness, CMC competence, and credibility. Results demonstrate that sources of text-messages are rated as more CMC competent when they employ emoji than when using verbal-only messages. There were no significant differences in ratings of source interpersonal attractiveness or credibility on the basis of emoji or emoticon message enhancement, but that may be a function of sample size. Implications for theory and practice, research limitations, and directions for future study are discussed.

Copyright by Austin Jonathan Beattie 2017

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Chad Edwards and Dr. Kathleen Propp for their continued guidance and expertise throughout this project and my time at WMU. Dr. Propp, your class kept me focussed and challenged, and I'm excited to soon be fellow Hawkeyes. Chad, thank you for your continued mentorship whether it was in the form of playing "guess what's in my head", piling on extra work when I thought I couldn't handle a single thing more, or over bottles of Diet Mountain Dew on early Monday mornings. You did a great job.

To my fellow Communication and Social Robotics Lab members America Edwards, Noelle Massey, Henry Goble, and my dear old "uncle" Riley Richards, thank you for keeping me challenged and active beyond the classroom. To my cohort Maggie Baker, Rachel Breden, Chelsea Coss, and Scott Shank, I couldn't have gone through this program with a better group of people. Remember my wish for you to commit my ashes to the koi pond at Hibachi Sushi Buffet.

To my in-laws Bruce, Loreen, and Spencer Casey, thank you for your continued support and love. To my siblings Martha and Devin, thank you for keeping me disciplined yet creative, and for all the movies and late night T.V. when things got stressful. To my parents April and David Beattie, thank you for engaging my communication scholarship since before I could speak, and raising me to appreciate the importance of genuine connections with others.

To my Advisor Dr. Autumn Edwards, you've made my grad school experience everything it has been since our chance encounter at NCA 2015. Your dedication to research, service, family, and your students is unparalleled. If I should someday become even half the Professor and Scholar you are, I'll consider my career a monumental success. Thank you, truly and sincerely, for all the support, guidance, and inspiration a grad student could ask for.

ii

Acknowledgements - Continued

Finally, and most importantly, to my best friend and wife, Trina. The ways you support and encourage me are immeasurable. Thank you for supplying me with near-lethal doses of caffeine, baking endless loaves of *bear*nana bread, and dealing with late night work and study sessions that sometimes went until dawn. It's no exaggeration when I say you were the biggest factor to my success during this project and my MA. Love you

-Austin Jonathan Beattie

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ii
LIST OF TABLES
CHAPTER I1
INTRODUCTION1
CHAPTER II
LITERATURE REVIEW
Computer-Mediated Communication4
Nonverbal Communication
Nonverbal Communication over CMC7
Emoji9
Researching emoticons and emoji11
Media Richness Theory13
Decision Making14
Interpersonal Impressions16
Social Attraction16
CMC Competence17
Credibility
CHAPTER III
METHODS19

Participants		19
Procedure		20
D	ecision making scenario	20
Measures		21
S	ocial attraction	21
С	MC competence	21
С	redibility	21
CHAPTER IV		23
DATA ANALYSIS AN	D DISCUSSION	23
Results		23
Social At	traction	23
CMC Co	mpetence	24
Credibili	ty	24
Discussion		20
Theoretic	al Considerations	25
	Credibility and social attraction	27
	Skills and characteristics	
Limitatio	ns and Future Directions	
	Sample	
	Design	
	Contextual	
	Platform variance	

Table of Contents -- Continued

Table of Contents -- Continued

Conclusion	
REFERENCES	35
APPENDICES	50
A. HSIRB Approval Letter	51
B. Text-only (Control) condition	
C. Emoticon Condition	54
D. Verbal-Only Condition	56

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Correlations among the Dependent Variables	23
2.	Means and Standard Deviations for the Dependent Variables	25

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Most people familiar with text messaging would probably agree that at some point they have experienced difficulties clarifying meaning behind received text messages, or have struggled to convey the desired nuance to messages they send. Facilitating nonverbal communication is challenging in text and instant-messaging computer-mediated communication (CMC) environments, which have traditionally existed as predominantly verbal channels (Huang, Yen, & Zang, 2008). This challenge will continue as CMC's popularity continues to grow. According to Pew Research (2015), 83% of people in the United States own a cell phone (approximately 75% of which are internet-capable smart phones), and nearly three-quarters of them (73%) use text messaging or "texting." Although texting is one of the most popular forms of communication, many people remain critical of its use. Some negative perceptions of texting, such as potential negative impacts on writing ability (Dansieh, 2011), stem from research. Other critics offer wholesale condemnation. Online opinion bloggers often assert texting is awful for society (LaFata, 2014) and that it threatens face-to-face (FTF) conversation skills (Irvine, 2012), often citing texting's improper contextual use (Gunther, 2011), or the its inadequacy to properly establish and maintain social relationships (Michele, 2016).

This study explored interpersonal impressions of CMC texting behaviors to offer insight into a limitation many might encounter while texting: the relative lack of nonverbal cues that help contextualize conversation. Although texting critics' opinions stem from scientific research to bandwagon opinion, nonverbal cues are indeed critical to communication. Many people are familiar with the adage "It's not what you say, but how you say it." Famous for his "7%-38%-55%" rule, psychologist Albert Mehrabian (1972; 1981) argued the verbal code accounts for less

than seven percent of message attribution. Edward Sapir claims "We respond to gestures with an extreme alertness and, one might almost say, in accordance with an elaborate and secret code that is written nowhere, known by none, and understood by all (1927, p. 556).

Nonverbal communication facilitates many purposes in conjunction with the verbal channel and research indicates its importance in human communication. Texting and other forms of CMC, however, often lack many nonverbal codes (O'Neill, 2010) This verbal-only quality can often hinder the creation of effective and appropriate messages, posing a threat to thorough and individualized communication (Cupach, 1982). The separation of verbal and nonverbal channels can introduce ambiguity to even the most basic messages. A simple two-word statement such as "I'm fine" is challenging to interpret fully without its accompanying nonverbal indicators. But, even when adding text-based nonverbal modifiers like punctuation marks (e.g., "I'm fine.", "I'm fine..." and "I'm fine!") text messages, they can still be deciphered many different ways. Examples like these messages and others are a central concern of communication in text channels, especially in goal-oriented and decision-making scenarios.

Texting is widely available, inexpensive, user-friendly, and instant. Texting's wide adoption results its use in many different communicative contexts (Cole-Lewis & Kershaw, 2010; Rice & Katz, 2003), some of which involve making important or detail-oriented decisions (e.g., Battestini, Setlur, & Sohn, 2010). However, people are more likely to misunderstand each other and become aggressive over CMC than they are in FTF settings (e.g., Daft & Lengel, 1984; Kiesler & Sproull, 1992). Scholars argue CMC is low in person-centeredness (e.g., Dubrovsky,1985; Walther, Anderson, & Park, 1994), further complicating important conversations being held over the medium.

Like other CMC technologies, however, advancements continue to be made in texting. A recently popularized feature, "emoji" present significant opportunities to bridge the gap between verbal and nonverbal channels over CMC. Emoji are rich, small digital images or icons that are used to express emotions and ideas (Oxford, 2016). Although emoji share similarities with other ASCII and graphical emoticons, emoji are distinct. In contrast to simplistic ASCII emoticons or platform-specific graphical emoticon, emoji are designed upon open-source Unicode format, and can be sent across every major computer operating system and device (Warren, 2014; Unicode, 2016). Due to the similarities in function between emoticons and emoji, however, this study will review literature on both to further contextualize usage of nonverbal behaviors over CMC.

The distinction between previous emoticon variants and emoji grows more prevalent as smartphones and tablets now surpass the traditional laptop or desktop PCs as the internet device of choice in the United States (Anthony, 2014), underscoring the importance of understanding nonverbal communication over texting. However, few studies examine interpersonal impressions of nonverbal CMC or emoji use. Because the production of appropriate and effective messages is a requisite for communication competence, communication scholars are uniquely concerned with particular message choices (Clark & Delia, 1979). This study will review literature in CMC, textmessaging, nonverbal communication, and media richness theory. Following this literature review are three hypotheses and an experiment which examines whether and how the use of nonverbal texting (operationalized as emoji use) during decision-making may influence perceptions of interpersonal attractiveness, CMC competence, and credibility.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Computer-Mediated Communication

Computer-mediated communication (CMC) refers to "any human symbolic text-based interaction conducted or facilitated through digitally-based technologies" including the internet, cellular phone text, and instant messaging (Spitzberg, 2006, p. 630). Although CMC originally referred to communication through traditional desktop and laptop computers (e.g., email, chatrooms, online forums, and social networking sites), it now encompasses communication mediated by several forms of computer technology (e.g., cell phones, tablet computers) and practices (e.g., SMS text messaging) (Thurlow, Lengel, & Tomic, 2004). This expansion becomes increasingly justified and relevant as smartphones and tablet computers become more powerful and eclipse traditional desktop and laptop PCs as the primary means through which people connect to the internet (Bonnington, 2015; Miceli, 2015). Nearly a third of the world's population, approximately two billion people, own a smartphone (Statista, 2016).

According to Portio Research (2015), there are 7.1 billion registered mobile numbers in the world. Out of the 7.3 billion world population, 6.1 billion people possess an SMS-enabled phone. Mobile devices and wireless networks are at the forefront of millions of lives around the world. However, like Gutenberg's printing press or the telegraph, new technologies throughout history threaten the status quo and are often questioned (Zeigler, 1997). Texting criticism comes from many angles. Some CMC criticism concentrates on a perceived affront to traditional language conventions (Fowlkes, 2012), or CMC's role in regard to future generations' ability to operate a functioning society (Kluger, 2012). For instance, regarding language conventions, some people claim CMC facilitates too many acronyms which make it difficult to interpret

messages (Humphrys, 2007), and individuals expressing concern about society's ability to function in the future claim CMC allows people to disobey too many laws of FTF communication and leads to anxiety (LaFata, 2014).

Conversely, some research indicates more empowering texting implications, and indicate many choose texting as a primary means of communication. Research in healthcare indicates texting is a preferred channel of correspondence among people in HIV prevention interventions (Cornelius et al., 2012), tobacco cessation (Obermayer, Riley, Asif, & Jean-Mary, 2004), and type-1 diabetes glucose management (Franklin, Waller, Pagliari & Greene, 2006). Research by Pettigrew (2009) explored connectedness between romantic and nonromantic dyads, and results suggested romantic partners perceived text messaging differently than nonromantic partners. For romantic partners, text messages were sufficient for relational maintenance and facilitated both connectedness and autonomy needs for both partners. Despite wholesale criticisms, communication research suggests texting provides multiple benefits for its users. However, scholars still note CMC's limitations.

Some scholars cite the lack of nonverbal cues as a leading disadvantage to CMC (e.g., Culnan & Markus, 1987; Gunawardena, 1995; Kiesler, Siegal, & McGuire, 1984; Rutter, 1987). The focus on cues was especially common during early CMC scholarship, and many scholars argued the lack of nonverbal information of CMC interfered with the exchange of feelings (Carnevale, Pruitt, & Seilheimer, 1981; Krauss, Apple, Morencz, Wenzel, & Winton, 1981). The source of CMC criticism has ranged from scholarly insight to outright condemnation, such as the "linguistic ruin" of society (Axtman, 2002) or "wrecking [the English] language" (Humphrys, 2007). However, critics focusing on strict adherence to rules governing language

usage or interaction may be overlooking CMC's benefits. In contrast, some communication scholars offer perspectives that consider the positive impacts of CMC.

Walther (1992) challenged the notion that CMC environments must be rich in social cues to facilitate relational development, and argued relationships could develop online to the same degree that they do FTF. Furthermore, Walther's (1996) hyperpersonal model suggests CMC poses an advantage for some communicators, such as the ability for users to develop intimate relationships despite fewer cues than FTF communication. The hyperpersonal model individuals move through three distinct stages marked by their disclosure and self-presentation over CMC: a.) *impersonal*, b.) *interpersonal*, and c.) *hyperpersonal*. Once people reach the *hyperpersonal* phase, Walther argues they are more empowered in CMC than FTF to make favorable impressions in part to the ability for users to select which "self" to present (Walther, 1996). Walther's social information processing theory (1992) and hyperpersonal model (1996) offer insight into how people form meaningful relationships with fewer cues, but still acknowledge CMC limitations, and emphasize the importance of impressions from what cues are still available.

Nonverbal Communication

Nonverbal communication behaviors work to contextualize, reinforce and clarify verbal messages, and are essential to conversation by conveying feelings and attitudes (Duncan, 1969). Although sometimes repeated to the point of cliché, there is research behind the phrase "it's not *what* you say, but *how* you say it", and its mainstream popularity (e.g., Hardy, 2014; Tobak, 2011) underscores the importance of nonverbal communication. Mehrabian (1972; 1981) argued the verbal code accounts for less than seven percent of message attribution in his concept known

as the "7%-38%-55%" rule. Given this, should CMC facilitate (at minimum) seven percent of "*what*" is said, it would become necessary to continue studying "*how*" things are said.

Nonverbal messages enhance communication through several primary functions. Some scholars categorize them into three main concept: (a) *providing information*, such as nodding in agreement to reinforce a verbal message, (b) *regulating interaction*, such as looking at a wristwatch to suggest an interaction is taking too long, or (c) *expressing intimacy*, such as smiling at somebody (e.g., Ekman & Friesen, 1969; Harrison, 1973). This study assumes nonverbal messages serve similar functions in texting.

Texting often disconnects nonverbal and verbal codes (O'Neil, 2010), which makes selecting appropriate and effective messages more challenging (Cupach, 1982), and at times leaves the meaning of even simple messages ambiguous. As any potential receiver can interpret CMC text messages in any possible way, effective and appropriate communicators over CMC must make their language clear by itself and regardless of context (Ong, 1982). This study recognizes these notions pose a challenge when nonverbal communication is mostly absent in CMC.

Nonverbal Communication over CMC

Early perspectives on CMC focused on the varying levels of "richness" (Daft & Lengel, 1986), "social presence" and "psychological distance" (Short, Williams, & Christie, 1976). These earlier perspectives often emphasized a weakness of CMC was the filtering-out of nonverbal behaviors such as facial expressions, vocal tone, pitch, gestures, and other variables of body language (Kiesler, Siegel, & McGuire, 1984; O'Neill, 2010). Cues-filtered-out perspectives posit that media allow nonverbal cues on a continuum of "rich" (e.g., video conferencing, FTF) to "lean" (e.g., email, text-messaging), and argue the degree to which media facilitate these

qualities may indicate their capacity to convey shared meaning and to facilitate sociable, immediate, and personal interaction (Zornoza, Ripoll, & Pieiro, 2002). As such, media richness is highest in FTF interaction and decreases gradually from video to audio, and eventually to text communication. Cues-filtered out perspectives generally suggest FTF communication is superior for its ability to reveal current emotional and cognitive states.

Scholars argue that the consequences of fewer cues--which include difficulty taking turns and disorganized syntax during conversation--impede interpersonal and group processes and result in depersonalization and de-individuation (Kiesler, Siegel & McGuire, 1984; Sproull and Kiesler, 1989). Hiemstra (1982) claimed: "As bandwidth narrows from face-to face interaction, the communication is likely to be experienced as less friendly, emotional, and personal, and more serious, businesslike, depersonalized, and task-oriented" (p. 883), suggesting texting may be less suitable for important or detailed interactions.

Although many nonverbal cues are nonexistent, texting still shares features and approaches typically associated with FTF interaction. To this end, some scholars regard CMC as "a hybrid language variety displaying characteristics of both oral and written language" (Ferrara, Brunner, & Whittemore, 1991, p. 10), raising questions about how linguistic and behavioral states are communicated, shaped, and interpreted over the medium; and supporting a notion that while CMC and FTF are different, one is not necessarily or always better than the other. Walther and Burgoon (1992) noted: "CMC produces much different affective and relational patterns than do other types of communication, due to the reduction and types of cues available to participants" (p. 51). Walther and Parks (2002) further considered these different affective and relational patterns, and illustrated the potential of CMC to filter out possible undesirable social or dyadic behaviors, such as interruptions, distracting vocalizations, irregular eye gaze patterns, and unattractive physical characteristics. Current research continues to illustrate the benefits cuesfiltered-out CMC qualities have on people, such as empowering interactants with communication apprehension (e.g., Caplan, 2005; High & Caplan, 2009), and supports Walther's (1992, 1996) notion that media richness is not a prerequisite for communication quality.

Scholars argue people can indeed communicate and develop relationships in relatively lean environments (Walther, 1992; 1996), but even for the most skilled and experienced online communicators message clarification may still be needed. Feenberg (1989) suggested ways to overcome obstacles of text messaging interactions, and argued the solution lies within explicit meta-communication. He suggested participants must strive to continuously fully express themselves, overcome their inhibitions and demand further information by requesting clarification of tone and intent from others.

Emoji. Well before the transistor was invented, CMC nonverbal behaviors started in the nineteenth century when people communicated nonverbally using numeric short-hand in telegrams. For instance, the number 73 meant "best regards" and 88 indicated "love and kisses" (Alcorn, 1997; Phillips, 2015). Years later, the United States Government and Bell Laboratories developed the foundational technologies of the internet for military purposes in the 1960s, but the experience was strictly verbal-only, and did not take recognizable form until Tim Berners-Lee invented hyper-text markup language (HTML) in 1989 (Stokes & Wilson, 2006). The verbal-only nature of CMC and the internet prior to HTML provided a significant challenge for online communicators, but was soon enhanced by emoticons: "visual cues formed from ordinary ASCII [American Standard Code for Information Interchange] typographical symbols that when read sideways represent feeling or emotions" (Rezabek & Cochenour, 1998, p. 201). Dr. Scott Fahlman, a professor at Carnegie Melon University created the first emoticons in 1982 when he

posted to an online electric bulletin "I propose the following character sequence for joke markers: :-) Read it sideways." (Bignell, 2012, p. 1). Fahlman noticed the ways simple attempts at humor were misunderstood, and sought to enable people posting on the university's online bulletin board the ability to distinguish humor in their online messages. Once he posted the ":-)" and ":-(" figures they quickly spread to other university bulletin boards (Krohn, 2004).

Years later, Japanese computer scientist Shigetaka Kurita was impressed and intrigued with the promise of mobile CMC to connect people. Similar to Dr. Fahlman, Kurita also noticed frequent misunderstandings in CMC contexts and was concerned they would offset CMC benefits (Blagdon, 2013). As a result, Kurita programmed small pictographs that could be transmitted over simple-messaging service (SMS), facilitating the transfer or richer media without robust data networks. Although emoji share similarities with previous nonverbal CMC tools (i.e., the emoticon and graphical emoticons) and are used similarly, some differences are noteworthy. While the original ASCII emoticons utilize preexisting one-bit characters to construct meaningful symbols (e.g., :-(, ;-), :-D), and graphical emoticons provide further detail (e.g., o, o), emoji not only include emotive facial displays (e.g., o), but also physical objects ranging from pizza slices (s) to office buildings (\blacksquare), symbols like national flags (o), to abstractions of celebrations like fireworks (\blacksquare) (Emoji, 2016).

This array of transmittable symbols between virtually any active smartphone featuring hundreds of symbols presents a significant enrichment over character-based and platformspecific predecessors. Emoji have become a cultural phenomenon since their widespread adoption in the United States during the early 2010s (Blagdon, 2013). Some teachers include emoji in their curricula to help students learn critical reading skills (King, 2016). Device designers and manufacturers like Apple, Google, and Microsoft (the three largest software

companies for mobile devices) all offer emoji preinstalled into their software (Sternbergh, 2014), and due to their open-source Unicode programming (Unicode, 2016), virtually every modern smartphone, tablet and computer can display emoji (Warren, 2014). Although this study will argue emoji enhances the richness of text-messaging and CMC to a greater degree than previous innovations, it will consider literature studying all emoticon variants to further contextualize and explore the larger phenomenon of nonverbal communication in texting.

Researching emoticons and emoji. Some research exploring emoticons indicated their power to reinforce verbal messages, such as Walther and D'Addario's (2001) study of emoticons on perceptions of chat messages, which found negative emoticons shifted the interpretation of those messages in the direction of the negative message elements. Dindia and Huber (2009) replicated this study using graphical emoticons instead of ASCII text-based emoticons (e.g., "©" instead of ":-)") and likewise found the negativity effect to be relatively strong. The valence and social context of an interaction also plays a role in interpretation. Derks, Bos and Von Grumbkow (2007) explored this by operationalizing context valence as a negative or positive meeting about a school project which featured task-oriented or person-oriented messages, respectively. Their research indicated valence and context predicted emoticon use, such that as people are more likely to use them in both positive and negative socio-emotional contexts, and less likely to use them in positive or negative task-oriented contexts.

Although studies continue to offer more insight into emoticons, some scholars highlight issues studying their use. Dresner and Herring (2010) argued that some research limits the interpretation of emoticon use because emoticons over CMC are not necessarily reflective of emotive states. In fact, much research presumptively interprets the contribution of emoticons to conversation as strictly reflective of emotive construal (e.g., Merchant, 2001; Morahan-Martin,

2000; Utz, 2000). Scholars (e.g., Dresner and Herring, 2010) highlighting issues such as these argue emoticons may be used to serve more purposes than expressing the idea of a felt emotion, such as impressing upon the receiver personality traits. Some research suggests emoticon usage conveys a nuance of playfulness (Danet, 2001), which may make CMC more personable. Research by Skovholt, Grønning, & Kankaanranta, (2014) furthers this line of scholarship, arguing emoticons are used as *attitude markers* following signatures, as *joke markers* following attempts at humor, and for their hedging function as *strengtheners* to expressive messages and *softeners* to task-oriented messages. The *attitude marker* and hedging functions perhaps have the most important implication for this study, as they suggest emoji draw message recipients' attention to the attitude of the sender (making messages more expressive) suggesting they may be used as attempts at more person-centered communication. Therefore, for the purpose of this study, emoji will be explored as nonverbal communication symbols that may be used to coordinate and regulate interaction, as well as manage impressions.

Although offering useful insight on emoji use, current research does not fully explore interpersonal impressions of emoji source. This study will analyze whether emoji are tools for creating interpersonal impressions, rather than focusing on their use as indicators of the emotional states of others or as products of their contexts. The broader gamut of emotions and other nonverbal behaviors across virtually all devices that emoji allow (Blagdon, 2013; Warren, 2014; Unicode, 2016) provide more cues than text-only environments and their emoticon predecessors, and thus a richer medium (Daft & Lengel, 1986) through which to communicate over CMC.

Media Richness Theory

Media Richness Theory (MRT), originally proposed by Daft and Lengel (1986), provides a framework for understanding how accurately different communication mediums are able to replicate the information being sent over them. MRT posits that media vary in ability to facilitate changes in understanding between partners. MRT suggests communicators will be more effective and efficient when they use richer media for equivocal tasks and leaner media are used for less equivocal tasks, with "richness" referring to the level at which cues are present in a particular environment. Daft, Lengel, and Trevino (1987) argue the richness of a medium is based on four main criteria: (a) *feedback*, or how immediately available responses are, (b) *multiple cues*, which regards how much communication information is available, (c) *language variety*, which concerns how much meaning can be made through symbols, and (d) *personal focus*, which regard how customized messages can be crafted for their recipients.

All of Daft et al.'s MRT (1987) criteria are relevant to this study. Participants may evaluate emoji higher than emoticon and text-only conditions due in part to emoji's enrichment of MRT's four main criteria for evaluating medium richness. First, they enhance the *feedback* criterion by providing richer nonverbal messages which may be interpreted faster than verbalonly messages. Emoji also might perform better under the *multiple cues* criterion as their use alone is a further cue. Emoji feature over one thousand individual symbols (Emoji, 2016), which enhance the *language variety* and *personal focus* criteria by allowing more symbols over CMC, which then in turn may be used to further personalize interaction.

MRT claims a primary purpose of communication should be to reduce uncertainly and equivocality (Daft et al., 1987), and argues media must facilitate sufficient levels of information. MRT further states media must avoid fostering equivocality during ambiguous situations and

negotiations. According to Daft and Weick (1984), people struggling to define meaning must utilize media possessing higher degrees of immediate feedback so that meaning can be coordinated properly. Thus, MRT argues the role of media in communication tasks, such as decision making, is to enable immediate processing of rich information.

Decision Making

A significant portion of MRT's assumptions derive from earlier studies that indicated a positive linear relationship between task complexity and perceptions of uncertainty, such that as the more intricate a task, the more ambiguous communication between people will seem (Daft & Macintosh, 1981; Tushman, 1978). Because of varying individual differences, misunderstandings and misinterpretations are more likely to occur when CMC is higher in equivocality (Daft & Macintosh, 1981). Some scholars refer to this as *analyzability*, or the degree to which the content of a task can be understood. The lower analyzability a communication context presents, the richer communication medium it requires (Perrow, 1967). This suggestion, however, may be violated by current technological habits.

Although people are more likely to miscommunicate when making decisions over CMC than in FTF contexts, research by Battestini, Setlur, and Sohn (2010) indicated that planning (in their study, interactions focused on planning social activities, coordinating family meal times, and arranging car rides) accounted for almost one-third of CMC texting conversations, further compound the likelihood of miscommunication during decision making. Daft and Weick (1984) indicated difficulty categorically interpreting and representing communication in these contexts, arguing the ability to interpret or represent communication in a system of categories or rules is a key indicator in exploring task uncertainty. In such situations (e.g., planning events), more feedback can clarify the communication between individuals resulting in a higher chance of

completing the task, and a lower chance of miscommunicating (Randolph & Finch, 1977; Zmud, Lind, & Young, 1990).

With previous literature and MRT considered, emoji may benefit interpersonal decision making several ways due to their enrichment of richness (Daft, Lengel, & Trevino, 1987) and analyzability (Perrow, 1967). First, emoji bolster the capacity of CMC text-messaging to transmit multiple cues, which will facilitate further conveyance of interpretation and meaning. Secondly, because emoji feature facial expressions, physical objects, and many other items, they enhance linguistic variety, which communicates broader ideas and concepts. Finally, and similarly to the hedging qualities that may increase person-centeredness suggested by Skovholt et al. (2014), emoji empowers the further personal focus capacity, allowing texters more nuanced expression and interpretation of emotions and feelings.

With regard to emoticon richness, an experiment by Ganster, Eimler, and Kramer (2012) tested the difference between graphical emoticons (in their study referred to as "smilies") and character-based (ASCII) emoticons on message evaluation, receiver mood, and perceptions of the sender's characteristics (e.g., strong, reliable, determined). Results indicated users receiving smilies experienced significantly improved moods post stimulus compared to the ASCII emoticon condition. Furthermore, the smiley condition total score midrange was higher than ASCII emoticons across all dependent variables (although not statistically significant). These results demonstrated that the selection of nonverbal indicators in texting results in actual effects on people's wellbeing. Results such as these may partially account for why people choose to communicate emotional displays in CMC.

Research indicates individuals use their emotions to fulfill interpersonal goals during social interaction. People utilize their emotions primarily for prosocial, manipulative, and

impression management motives (Fischer, Manstead, Evers, Timmers, & Valk, 2008). Their wider range of expression affords users a higher degree of cues than previous enhancements. According to MRT and cue-filtered out theories, more cues facilitate more sociable, immediate, affective communication (Zornoza, Ripoll, & Pieiro, 2002). Furthermore, they empower users to enact some of the main functions (e.g., Ekman & Friesen, 1969; Harrison, 1973) of nonverbal communication (*providing information, regulating interaction*, and *expressing intimacy*). The *providing information* function in particular may enhance CMC, as it can help reinforce information and make communication more ambiguous. In this study, emoji used will focus on a *reinforcing* function.

Interpersonal Impressions

Walther (1992; 1996) argued that with enough time people may still develop relationships over CMC to the same degree of quality as they would in face-to-face contexts, but also stressed the limited cues available in CMC are especially important to developing relationships and interpersonal impressions. Cues can be either user-generated, such as an online profile picture or status update, or system-generated such as a friend count or membership tenure in a chatroom. This study will contextualize emoji use as a user-generated cue upon which others may base interpersonal impressions of the source.

Social Attraction

With emoji facilitating higher degrees of nonverbal emotive affect and immediacy (e.g., Danet, 2001; Dresner & Herring, 2010; O'Neill, 2010; Skovholt, Grønning, & Kankaanranta, 2014), their use may result in higher degrees of interpersonal attraction to the source. Research indicates immediacy is positively correlated with interpersonal attraction (Rocca & McCroskey, 1999). Furthermore, Norton, Pettegrew, and Land (1977) found people who are perceived as

animated (i.e., energized, lively) are liked more than people not perceived as animated. Emoji facilitate higher amounts of MRT's *multiple cues*, and *personal focus* criteria, and allow higher amounts of immediacy than emoticons and verbal-only messages. Therefore, I propose the following hypothesis:

H1: Message sources using reinforcing emoji will be perceived as more socially attractive than sources using emoticons or verbal-only messages.

CMC Competence

Competence generally refers to the ability to perform actions successfully and appropriately. In the context of communication, scholars argue varying definitions of the term, but suggest communication competence is essential to maintaining healthy relationships (McCroskey, 1982; Rubin, Martin, Bruning, & Powers, 1993; Wiemann, 1977; Wrench & Punyanunt-Carter, 2007). Bubaš (2001) agues CMC competence is a necessary factor toward collaborative behavior, thus decision making may be enhanced when partners perceive each other to be competent in the medium. Spitzberg's (2006) view of CMC competence asserts participants must be motivated to be competent, have an understanding of the systems they use, and learn the social conventions that underlie CMC interaction. Spitzberg further argues competent CMC users show attentiveness and concern for their interaction partners (related to MRT's personal focus criteria), actively control the time and relevance of communication, and are emotionally expressive (enhancing MRT's *feedback* criteria) (Spitzberg, 2006). Because increased cues are associated with more person-centeredness (Walther, Anderson, & Park, 1994) and emotional expression (e.g., Danet, 2001; Blagdon, 2013) in the CMC environment, under MRT's multiple cues and language variety criteria Emoji may facilitate richer online

communication. With consideration of these studies, as well as emoji possibly enhancing MRT's richness criteria, I propose the second hypothesis:

H2: Message sources using reinforcing emoji will be perceived as more CMC competent than sources using emoticons or verbal-only messages.

Credibility

Credibility refers to the attitudes of the receiver regarding the degree to which a source is perceived as believable (McCroskey, 1998), and consists of three dimensions; competence, character, and caring. *Competence* refers to a person's knowledge or expertise (McCroskey, 1998), *character* refers to the perceived goodwill or trustworthiness of a person (Frymier & Thompson, 1992), and *caring* involves concern for another's welfare (McCroskey & Teven, 1999; Brann, Edwards, & Meyers, 2005). Scholars argue credibility is among the most valuable interpersonal impressions (e.g., Andersen & Clevenger, 1963; McCroskey & Young, 1981).

The use of emoji may contribute to all three dimensions of credibility. First, emoji are communication tools, so the use thereof may make communicators appear more competent. Second, emoji use may lead to higher impressions of character due to their ability to increase *feedback* (Daft et. al, 1987, p. 8) as the use may make users seem more straightforward and open. Finally, their use may increase perceptions of caring. Some research indicates a positive relationship between credibility and immediacy, which involves responsive nonverbal displays (Teven & Hanson, 2004). Thus, I pose a final hypothesis:

H3: Message sources using reinforcing emoji will be perceived as more credible than sources using emoticons or verbal-only messages.

CHAPTER III

METHODS

To test the hypotheses, the researcher utilized a three-group experimental design, with participants randomly assigned to view one of three mock decision-support scenarios. The basic (or kernel) scenario featured a simulated text-messaging conversation between two interactants, the first of whom solicited a restaurant recommendation from the second. Through the mock conversation, suggestions were made and rebuked, and a decision was reached. Participants were exposed to either: (a) verbal only, (b) emoticons or (c) emoji conditions, asked to study the conversation, and then rate the first interactant on the dependent variables of social attraction, CMC competence, and credibility.

Participants

The sample consisted of 78 students enrolled in undergraduate courses at a large Midwestern research university. Of the participants, 66.7% (n = 52) identified as female and 33.3% (n = 51) identified as male. The majority (73.1%, n = 121) identified as Caucasian, followed by African-American (9%, n = 7), multi-racial (9%, n = 7), and Hispanic/Latino (6.4%, n = 5). Participant ages ranged from 18 to 37 years, with a mean age of 20.78 (SD = 2.93) and a median age of 20.00. Participants were recruited using convenience sampling and invited to participate by the primary investigator through use of the Midwestern University's SONA research system. Upon completion, student participants were provided with SONA research credit. This sample was part of a larger sample to be used in analyzing a different set of relationships at a later date.

Procedure

Following informed consent (Appendix A), participants were randomly assigned to view one of the three conditions (text-only, emoticon, emoji). They were instructed to carefully read the conversation and to give special consideration to the messages on the right side contributed by the partner named "Alex." In the emoticon and emoji conditions, the symbols used were chosen for their ability to replicate the *reinforcing* function (e.g., Ekman & Friesen, 1969; Harrison, 1973) of nonverbal communication. For instance, when Alex mentions a restaurant had good reviews, a smiling face was used, and when it had bad reviews, a frowning face was used. See Appendix B, C, and D for the three experimental stimuli. After participants viewed the conversations, they were directed to the survey portion where they responded to three standard measures: social attraction (McCroskey & McCains, 1997), CMC competence (Spitzberg, 2006), and source credibility (McCroskey & Teven, 1977). After completing the standard measures, participants were asked how often they use emoji, and several brief open-ended questions about emoji use (e.g., "what are your motives for using emoji" or "what do you think about people who use emoji"?). A brief demographic section followed this questionnaire. After completing the survey portion, the SONA system thanked them for their time.

Decision-making scenario. Once the session initiated, participants viewed a text message thread featuring a mock decision-making scenario between two interactant partners, Sam and Alex. In the threaded conversation, Sam solicits Alex for a restaurant recommendation. The two exchange ideas until a decision is reached. The focus of the interaction around a relatable CMC task where participants interact with the intent to come to a consensus replicates real-world situations many people might encounter via CMC text messaging.

Measures

Social attraction. Participants responded to a modified version of McCroskey and McCain's (1974) measure of interpersonal attraction. The researcher measured attraction to Alex across the measure's *social* (general liking, wanting to be around the person) dimension. Participants reported their social attraction toward Alex across Likert-type scale items (e.g. "I would like to have a friendly chat with Alex") ranging from 1 ("strongly disagree") to 5 ("strongly agree"). In this study, a reliability coefficient of .87 (Item M = 3.56, SD = .95), demonstrated good reliability.

Computer-mediated communication (CMC) competence. Finally, participants responded to Spitzberg's (2006) measure of computer-mediated communication (CMC) competence along the appropriateness (4 items) and effectiveness (4 items) dimensions of the scale. Item wording was modified to refer to the CMC competence of Alex (e.g., "Alex consistently achieves goals in interactions"). Participants rated each item on a Likert-type scale ranging from 1 ("not at all true of the person") to 5 ("very true of the person"). For CMC competence, a reliability coefficient of .78 (Item M = 3.72, SD = .98) was attained, demonstrating acceptable reliability.

Credibility. Participants rated Alex using McCroskey and Teven's (1999) measure of source credibility. This measure is an 18-item, seven-point semantic differential scale designed to assess impressions of an individual's credibility across three dimensions: competence (e.g., "trained" or "untrained"), character ("trustworthy" or "untrustworthy"), and caring ("has others' concerns at heart" or "does not have others' concerns at heart"). Because of the size of the sample, the multi-dimensional structure of the model was not tested. In this study, a reliability

coefficient of .93 (Item M = 5.33, SD = .93) was attained for the entire instrument, demonstrating good reliability.

CHAPTER IV

DATA ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION

Results

In order to test H1-3, three univariate Analyses of Variance (ANOVAS) were conducted to measure the effects of the manipulated independent variable level (verbal-only, emoticon, emoji) on the dependent variables of source social attraction, CMC competence, and credibility. See Table 1 for the correlations between the dependent variables

Table 1

Correlations among the Dependent Variables			
	CMC Competence	Credibility	
Social Attraction	.43*	.53*	
CMC Competence		.53*	
Credibility			

n 1 T7 · 11

* p < .01.

Social Attraction

In order to test if an emoji sender would be rated more socially attractive than a sender using verbal-only or emoticon messages (H1), a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted. See Table 2 for means and standard deviations of the experimental conditions. Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant, F = .142, p = .935, indicating the assumption of homogeneity of variance was tenable. The ANOVA was not significant, F(3,(152) = 2.50, p > .05. There was no significant difference in perceived social attractiveness of a text-messaging source on the basis of emoticon or emoji use.

CMC Competence

In order to test if message senders using emoji would be perceived more CMC competent than verbal-only or emoticon senders (H2), a second ANOVA was conducted. Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant, F = .782, p = .51, indicating the assumption of homogeneity of variance was tenable. The ANOVA was significant, F (3, 152) = 2.84, p < .05. As a result, we reject the null hypothesis. The strength of the relationship between Emoji use and CMC competence, as assessed by η^2 , was strong, with Emoji use accounting for 53% of the variance in CMC competence. Post hoc tests using Tukey's HSD were conducted to evaluate pairwise differences among the means. To control for Type 1 error across the three pairwise comparisons, we set alpha for each test at .017 (.05 / 3 = .017). Results indicated that message sources using Emoji were rated significantly higher in CMC competence than sources using verbal-only messages.

Credibility

In order to test the hypothesis that credibility would be rated higher as a function of emoji use (H3), a final ANOVA was conducted. Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant, F = 1.179, p = .320, indicating the assumption of homogeneity of variance was tenable. The ANOVA was not significant, F(3, 152) = 1.77, p > .05. There was no significant difference in the perceived credibility of a text-messaging source on the basis of emoji or emoticon use.

Table 2

	Verbal-only		Emoticon		Emoji	
Variable	М	(SD)	М	(SD)	М	(SD)
Social Attraction	3.34 ^a	(.69)	3.55 ^a	(.73)	3.80 ^a	(.78)
CMC Competence	3.50 ^a	(.67)	3.79 ^{ab}	(.51)	3.94 ^b	(.58)
Credibility	5.01 ^a	(.88)	5.51ª	(.72)	5.52ª	(1.06)

Means and Standard Deviations for the Dependent Variables

Note: means in a row with differing subscripts differed significantly at p < .017

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to determine whether emoji would function as media enrichment to influence impressions of message source. Results demonstrated that a message source using emoji was rated higher on the dependent variable of CMC competence (Spitzberg, 2006) than were sources using emoticons or verbal-only messages. Furthermore, mean scores for the emoji condition were higher along all three dependent variables, although they were not significant for credibility or social attraction. The results of this study demonstrate support for MRT (Daft et al., 1987) in several ways.

Theoretical Considerations

Implications for MRT and CMC competence. MRT accounts for the reason message sources using emoji were rated more CMC competent than sources using the leaner mediums of emoticon-reinforced and verbal-only texts. In particular, MRT's four criteria for determining media richness-*feedback, multiple cues, language variety,* and *personal focus*--are all possibly met by emoji to a greater degree than verbal-only messages, which is consistent with previous research (e.g., Ganster et al., 2012).

Emoji enhances CMC by meeting MRT's criteria in several ways. For instance, the *feedback* criterion states the ability to rapidly process information enhances CMC. Neurological research by Kuzmanovic et al. (2012) indicates the human brain processes nonverbal communication (facial gestures and body language) significantly faster than verbal communication. Additionally, post hoc analyses indicated 61.6 % (n = 98) of participants used emoji several times per day, and 11.9 % (n = 19) used them at least once per day. Participants' familiarity with emoji, and the human brain's ability to recognize nonverbal messages faster than verbal messages likely contributed to faster message processing, thus enhancing *feedback*. Due to recognizing nonverbal expressions faster than verbal messages (Kuzmanovic et al., 2012), participants exposed to the emoji condition might have evaluated messages faster or more efficiently than those in the text-only and emoticon conditions. More efficient processing may have led to higher impressions of source CMC competence due to potential impressions from participants that the message source is mindful of the time and relevance of communication, which Spitzberg (2006) claims is a quality of competent CMC communicators (p. 432). Alternatively, the addition of emoji may have been simply interpreted as possessing an extra skill, making a source appear more competent.

Participants may have rated emoji sources higher in CMC Competence due to the *language variety* criterion. Unicode currently supports 1,126 individual emoji symbols, but with customizable features (e.g., changing color of skin or inanimate objects) on some versions, the number of displayable symbols continues to grow and is difficult to approximate (Emoji, 2017). Possessing and interpreting symbols beyond ASCII text directly enhances the *language variety* criterion by allowing users to communicate in novel and creative ways. Some internet commentators humorously acknowledge emoji allow people to communicate in ways that may

have previously been awkward or taboo (e.g., Aldred, 2014; Purewal, 2016), a noteworthy varietal improvement to CMC that further research could explore.

The *personal focus* and *multiple cues* criteria are perhaps the most research-supported components of MRT. The notion that person-centeredness leads to higher evaluations of communicative partners is a concept that permeates interpersonal communication scholarship (see review by High & Dillard, 2012), and extensive communication research generally indicates a positive linear relationship between contextual cues available and communication quality (Walther, 1992). Participants in this study may have felt that the use of emoji further oriented messages toward recipients and/or that emoji sources were supplying cues to further contextualize and qualify communication. Spitzberg (2006, p. 642) highlights the importance of these adaptive and expressive qualities, further contextualizing why participants in this study rated the emoji condition higher than emoticon or text-only sources on the dependent variable of CMC competence.

Credibility and social attraction. Although results indicated significant differences between verbal-only and emoji conditions on CMC competence, results were not significant between conditions on the dependent variables of credibility or social attraction. There are several potential reasons results were not significant for these variables. First, McCroskey and Teven's credibility scale features several items relating to character (e.g., "concerned about me/not concerned about me" or "honest/dishonest") that may have been difficult to determine by only analyzing a texting thread. For instance, results may indicate a significant relationship between the independent conditions and the *competence* dimension due to the significant results of CMC competence (Spitzberg, 2006). Furthermore, results might be significant for the *caring* dimension due to its similarity to MRT's *person focus* and *language variety* criteria.

In similar ways to the limitations of the dependent variable of credibility, results for social attraction (McCroskey & McCain's, 1974) may also have not been significant due to the experimental design and application of the instrument. Although the *task* and *physical* attraction dimensions were omitted due to the limited exposure participants had with the condition, the *social* attraction dimension might share similar limitations. For instance, scale items such as "I think Alex could be a friend of mine" or "we could never establish a personal friendship with one another" might have been difficult for participants to accurately answer after a brief exposure to the conditions. Walther (1992) argues that CMC interactants can form meaningful relationships online, but they take more time that FTF contexts.

Skills and characteristics. The lack of significant results for credibility and social attraction may have also been partially predicted by SIPT, as the experiment's design perhaps violated the time participants needed to form impressions of social attraction. The more skill-oriented variable of CMC Competence (a scale which includes items such as "Alex is effective in conversations with others") might be quickly interpreted by seeing emoji, whereas it may take more time for participants develop impressions of credibility of social attraction (scales which include items like "Alex could be a friend of mine" or semantic differential items such as "intelligent" to "unintelligent"). Further limitations also might include receiver emoji use. For control, emoji were only used by Alex. However, participants may have noticed Sam's lack of usage, possibly contributing to an impression of no emoji reciprocity. It is possible Alex's use despite Sam's non-use may have made Alex appear lacking mindfulness of context or partner, leading to the non-significant impressions of social attraction or credibility.

Practical implications. Although results were only significant for one dependent variable, everyday communicators may still benefit from the knowledge that emoji may

positively influence interpersonal impressions of CMC competence. CMC permeates the current workplace, and an increasing number of people work from home and communicate with coworkers via CMC (Rapoza, 2013). Understanding what behaviors may influence impressions of CMC competence will prove to be more valuable as more workers than ever before become telecommuters, as employers will likely be drawn to workers that are skilled not only in their jobs, but their ability to do their jobs and manage relationships with others over CMC. Educators and students also may benefit from increased cognizance of their online impressions because online interactions are commonplace in both traditional "on campus" environments and distance learning. With 5.8 million students enrolled in at least one distance course between 2015 and 2016 (Allen & Seaman, 2016), educators will need to be able to communicate proficiently online with students, and students will be able to "get more" out their online learning the better they are able to use CMC media.

Limitations and Future Direction

Sample. The largest limitation to this research was the sample size. Because this study utilized a sample of 78 participants, it could only detect effect sizes that were moderate to large in magnitude. In reality, there may be real, albeit smaller, effect sizes of emoji and emoticon use on social attraction and credibility. Although analysis indicated positive linear relationships between condition richness and means for social attraction and credibility, there was not enough data to determine significance. Future research should work to ensure enough statistical power to detect smaller, but still potentially socially meaningful levels of effects.

Design. The next limitation was the design of the independent variable conditions. Limited time, funding, and implementable experimental designs in accordance with human subjects and internal review board procedures prescribed manipulated screen-shot images of

conversations between two fictional people as the best way to represent the independent control, emoticon, and emoji conditions. Although previous studies manipulating CMC cues have used a similar design in which participants are exposed to screenshots (e.g., Tong et al., 2008; Edwards et al., 2014), the static nature of the texting screenshots, as well as participants' status as observers may have caused participants not to feel engaged or truly connected to the experience, endangering ecological validity.

Future studies should explore the controllability of a live experiment where participants get first-hand experience, or perhaps explore the viability of computer-animating a texting conversation that participants then view. Viewing messages while they are sent and received more closely replicate actual texting, is higher in social presence, and thus and could make participants feel engaged and better equipped to judge dimensions of source.

Contextual. This experiment used an unknown (to participants) dyad and a common decision-making scenario. However, individuals make incalculable numbers of decisions over CMC ranging from relatively trivial (e.g., a coffee order), to ones impacting the course of a day (e.g., arranging a ride, a restaurant recommendation), to those impacting overall quality of life, such as diabetes management (e.g., Franklin et al., 2006). The decision-making scenario used in the manipulations involved one person soliciting advice from another to make a decision, rather than a negotiation between two partners wherein an agreement must be made.

The contextual-based limitations of this research grow when accounting for different interactant partners. People might welcome and/or use emoji in the context of planning a social event with a partner like a longtime friend, but they might not be receptive to receiving emoji from healthcare provider during uncertain or life-altering events. For instance, the message "We apologize for the inconvenience ^(a), but we need you to return to the office for further testing

The may result in entirely different perceptions of credibility, social attraction, and CMC competence than a message from a friend such as "Hey, what do you think about having the reunion at our favorite hangout ⁽ⁱ⁾, it could be just like our college days ⁽ⁱ⁾." Although these examples may be slightly farfetched, they nevertheless highlight the importance of social and situational context, and the relationship between interactants when considering what ways emoji might impact interpersonal impressions.

Future research should continue exploring contexts because people use CMC to make virtually all types of decisions (Battestini, Setlur, & Sohn, 2010) with various partners, and thus the contextual elements of emoji use likely impacts interpersonal impressions of its use (e.g., Derks et al., 2007). For instance, due to the healthcare implications mentioned earlier, there are likely different impressions formed based on emoji agency or the information being shared over texting. For example, emoji use may be interpreted differently between patients dealing with routine medical visits and those facing terminal illness. Although this is one example, the many combinations of context and partner underscore why future research should continue exploring the interplay of partner, context, and emoji to greater understand how these factors impact interpersonal impressions.

Platform Variance. Another significant limitation to this research is the variation of emoji display between operating systems. Emoji are transmittable through virtually every current device, but their representation between devices provides an immeasurable source of variance. Although Unicode standardizes the name and general facial expressions (where applicable) for each symbol, their representation across platforms (e.g., Apple iOS, Google Android) is not consistent (Blagdon, 2013). Differences in emoji appearance between platforms are most significant when representing facial expression and pose a serious limitation to device-inclusive

emoji implications. A recent study (Miller et al., 2016) experimentally tested the perceived sentiment of the "grinning face with smiling eyes" (Emoji, 2016) emoji on a -5 (negative sentiment), 0 (neutral) to 5 (positive sentiment). Results of Miller et al.'s (2016) study determined that sender and the receiver interpretation of emoji differed by several (2.04) scale points when sent across platforms (e.g., Apple iPhone to Samsung Galaxy). Furthermore, even within the same platform (e.g., Apple iPhone to Apple iPhone), the average perceived sentiment difference was nearly two points (1.88), indicating that people still may not agree on emoji meaning even when viewing the exact same design.

Future research could examine how people with within and between platforms may communicate differently as a result of their specific interpretations of emoji semantic and emotional construal. Results such as Miller et al.'s (2016) that demonstrate large variances in emoji interpretation pose significant challenges to understanding the impacts of emoji on interpersonal impressions, yet also provide ample room for further inquiry. For instance, with how popular the iPhone is, it may be possible people on different phone platforms (e.g., Samsung, LG) may be hesitant to use emoji because they are unsure what they are exactly sending to others' phones, and understanding how users between platforms make sense of each other despite these differences could provide insightful data.

The strength of emoji may lie within their broad application rather than as specific meaning-markers. Representations and interpretations can vary, so research should continue exploring the differences between operating systems and the interpretations of emoji meaning because despite these translational differences emoji continue to be an immensely popular behavior in texting. CMC habits carry throughout culture regardless of specific applications and devices. This phenomenon was recently reported by Instagram, claiming that nearly half the

messages on the website featured emoji (Novak, Smailović, Sluban, & Mozetič, 2015). Future research might find significant results regarding emoji use across varying CMC environments. These results may indicate significant similarities or differences in how people use emoji, and perhaps open up countless other questions regarding contextual implications. For instance, one may favor using emoji on Snapchat, but not on Facebook.

Conclusion

The previous section outlines only the most obvious limitations and opportunities for future research the primary investigator has heretofore recognized. There are countless opportunities, directions, and contexts for continued emoji and nonverbal CMC research. Regarding this, Walther (2006) writes "as new technologies develop... the need for conceptual and empirical specificity about nonverbal cues, their functions, and their re-representations will become even more consequential...In future, more specific consideration of nonverbal cues, those missing and those that are replaceable, will be critical to the development of more sophisticated theories and better interfaces" (p. 473, 474). While limitations exist with emoji (e.g., Miller et al., 2006) Walther argues that research must continue focusing on emerging nonverbal cues to create better CMC for everyone. Hiemstra (1982) claims: "As bandwidth narrows from face-to face interaction, the communication is likely to be experienced as less friendly, emotional, and personal, and more serious, businesslike, depersonalized, and taskoriented" (p. 883), further emphasizing the implications of potential barriers and limitations to CMC that competent communicators must take into account.

From this research are several implications for MRT and CMC competence. Although this study did not demonstrate significant differences between the independent conditions of textonly, emoticon, and emoji message sources on the dependent variables of social attraction and

credibility, results indicated a significant relationship between emoji use and CMC competence. The interplay between emoji and the four MRT medium richness criteria (*feedback, multiple cues, language variety*, and *personal focus*) in how they relate to impressions CMC competence will be a growing concern for competent communicators in an increasingly technological and mobile world.

REFERENCES

- Alcorn, J. (1997) *Radiotelegraph and radiotelephone codes, prowords, and abbreviations*. REPRINT, St. Lismore, AU
- Aldred, C. (2014). 21 emojis combinations to use when words won't quite cut it. *Blazepress*. Retreived online March 23, 2017 from http://blazepress.com/2014/10/21-emojicombinations-use-words-wont-quite-cut/
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2016). Opening the Textbook: Educational Resources in US Higher Education, 2015-16. Babson Survey Research Group.
- Andersen, K., & Clevenger Jr, T. (1963). A summary of experimental research in ethos. *Communication Monographs*, *30*, 59-78. doi: 10.1080/03637756309375361
- Anthony, S. (2014) In 2015, tablet sales will finally surpass PCs, fulfilling Steve Jobs' post-PC prophecy. *Extreme Tech*. Retrieved November 18, 2016 from https://www.extremetech.com/computing/185937-in-2015-tablet-sales-will-finally-surpass-pcs-fulfilling-steve-jobs-post-pc-prophecy
- Axtman, K. (2002) 'R u online?': The evolving lexicon of wired teens. *The Christian Science Monitor*. Retrieved November 20, 2016 from http://www.csmonitor.com/2002/1212/p01s01-ussc.html
- Battestini, A., Setlur, V., & Sohn, T. (2010). A large scale study of text-messaging use. In Proceedings of the 12th international conference on Human computer interaction with mobile devices and services (pp. 229-238). ACM.
- Bignell, P. (2012) Happy 30th birthday emoticon! :-). *Independent*. Retrieved November 20, 2016 from http://www.independent.co.uk/life-style/gadgets-and-tech/news/happy-30thbirthday-emoticon-8120158.html

Bonnington, C. (2015) In less than two years, a smartphone could be your only computer. *Wired Magazine*. Retrieved November 20, 2016 from https://www.wired.com/2015/02/smartphone-only-computer/

- Brann, M., Edwards, C., & Myers, S. (2005). Perceived instructor credibility and teaching philosophy. *Communication Research Reports*, 22, 217–226. doi: 10.1080/00036810500230628
- Bubaš, G. (2001). Computer mediated communication theories and phenomena: Factors that influence collaboration over the Internet. In *3rd CARNet users conference, Zagreb, Hungary*.
- Caplan, S. E. (2005). A social skill account of problematic Internet use. *Journal of Communication*, *55*, 721-736. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2005.tb03019.x
- Carnevale, P. J., Pruitt, D. G., & Seilheimer, S. D. (1981). Looking and competing:
 Accountability and visual access in integrative bargaining. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 40, 111. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.40.1.111
- Clark, R. A., & Delia, J. G. (1979). Topoi and rhetorical competence. *Quarterly Journal of Speech*, *65*, 187-206. doi: 10.1080/00335637909383470
- Cole-Lewis, H., & Kershaw, T. (2010). Text messaging as a tool for behavior change in disease prevention and management. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, 32, 56-69. doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxq004
- Cornelius, J. B., St Lawrence, J. S., Howard, J. C., Shah, D., Poka, A., McDonald, D., & White,A. C. (2012). Adolescents' perceptions of a mobile cell phone text messaging-enhanced intervention and development of a mobile cell phone-based HIV prevention intervention.

Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing, *17*, 61-69. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00308.x

- Cupach, W. R. (1982). Communication satisfaction and interpersonal solidarity as outcomes of conflict message strategy use. Paper presented at the 32nd annual meeting of the International Communication Association, Boston, MA, May 2-5
- Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1984). Information richness: A new approach to managerial behavior and organizational design. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *6*, 191-233.
- Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1986). Organizational information requirements, media richness and structural design. *Management Science*, *32*, 554-571. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.32.5.554
- Daft, R. L., Lengel, R. H., & Trevino, L. K. (1987). Message equivocality, media selection, and manager performance: Implications for information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 11, 355-366.
- Daft, R. L., & Macintosh, N. B. (1981). A tentative exploration into the amount of equivocality of information processing in organizational work units. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 26, 207-224. doi: 10.2307/2392469
- Daft, R. L., & Weick, K. (1984). Toward a model of organizations as interpretations systems. *Academy of Management Review*, 284–295. doi: 10.5465/AMR.1984.4277657
- Dansieh, S. A. (2011). SMS texting and its potential impacts on students' written communication skills. *International Journal of English Linguistics*, 1(2), 222-229. doi: 10.5539/ijel.v1n2p222
- Derks, D., Bos, A. E., & Von Grumbkow, J. (2007). Emoticons and social interaction on the Internet: the importance of social context. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 23, 842-849. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2004.11.013

- Dresner, E., & Herring, S. C. (2010). Functions of the nonverbal in CMC: Emoticons and illocutionary force. *Communication Theory*, *20*, 249-268. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2885.2010.01362.x
- Dindia, K., & Huber, J. (2009, November). *The influence of emoticons on message interpretation in instant messages*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Communication Association in Chicago, Illinois.
- Dubrovsky, V. (1985). Real-time computer-mediated conferencing versus electronic mail. In
 Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, 29, 4, 380-384. SAGE Publications.
- Duncan, S. (1969). Nonverbal communication. Psychological Bulletin, 72(2), 118.
- Edwards, C., Edwards, A., Spence, P. R., & Shelton, A. K. (2014). Is that a bot running the social media feed? Testing the differences in perceptions of communication quality for a human agent and a bot agent on Twitter. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *33*, 372-376. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.08.013
- Edwards, A., & Harris, C. J. (2016). To tweet or 'subtweet'?: Impacts of social networking post directness and valence on interpersonal impressions. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *63*, 304-310. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.050
- Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. (1969). The repertoire of nonverbal behavior: Categories, origins, usage and codings. *Semiotica*, *1*, 49–97. doi: https://doi.org/10.1515/semi.1969.1.1.49
- Emoji (2016). Copy and paste emojis. *getemoji.com*. Retrieved November 18, 2016 from www.getemoji.com
- Feenberg, A. (1989). The written world. In R. Mason & T. Kaye (Eds.), *Mindweave*. Oxford, NY: Pergamon Press.

- Ferrara, K., Brunner, H., & Whittemore, G. (1991). Interactive written discourse as an emergent register. *Written Communication*, *8*, 8-34. doi: 10.1177/0741088391008001002
- Fischer, A. H., Manstead, A. S., Evers, C., Timmers, M., & Valk, G. (2004). Motives and norms underlying emotion regulation. In Philippot P, Feldman RS, eds. *The regulation of emotion*, 187-210. New York, NY: Erlbaum.
- Franklin, V. L., Waller, A., Pagliari, C., & Greene, S. A. (2006). A randomized controlled trial of Sweet Talk, a text-messaging system to support young people with diabetes. *Diabetic Medicine*, 23, 1332-1338.
- Fowlkes, J. (2012) Why social media is destroying our social skills. *USA Today*. Retrieved December 8, 2016 from: http://college.usatoday.com/2012/10/11/opinion-why-social-media-is-destroying-our-social-skills/
- Frymier, A. B., & Thompson, C. A. (1992). Perceived teacher affinity-seeking in relation to perceived teacher credibility. *Communication Education*, 41, 388-399. doi: 10.1080/03634529209378900
- Griffiths, S. (2016). Are YOU using emoji all wrong? The icons that look so different on iPhones and Android handsets that your friends may not know what you are talking about. *The Daily Mail.* Retrieved November 27, 2016 from http://www.dailymail.co.uk/sciencetech/article-3535858/Are-using-emoji-wrong-Grinning-face-icon-looks-different-iPhones-Android-handsets-people-don-t-know-actually-means.html
- Gunther, R. (2011). Can text messages damage intimate communication? *Psychology Today*. Retrieved March 23, 2017 from https://www.psychologytoday.com/blog/rediscoveringlove/201102/can-text-messages-damage-intimate-communication

- Hardy, D. (2014). It's not what you say that matters. *The Huffington Post Blogs*. Retrieved March 9, 2017 from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/darren-hardy/its-not-what-you-saythat_b_6156038.html
- Harrison, R. P. (1973). Nonverbal communication. In I. S. Pool, W. Schramm, N. Maccoby, F.Fry, E. Parker, & J. L. Fern (Eds.), *Handbook of communication* (pp. 93–115). Chicago: Rand McNally.
- Hiemstra, G. (1982). Teleconferencing, concern for face, and organizational culture. In:M.Burgoon (Ed.) *Communication yearbook 6* (pp. 874–904). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.
- High, A. C., & Caplan, S. E. (2009). Social anxiety and computer-mediated communication during initial interactions: Implications for the hyperpersonal perspective. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 25, 475-482. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2008.10.011
- Huang, A. H., Yen, D. C., & Zhang, X. (2008). Exploring the potential effects of emoticons. *Information & Management*, 45, 466-473. doi: 10.1016/j.im.2008.07.001
- Humphrys, J. (2007). I h8 txt msgs: How texting is wrecking our language. *The Daily Mail*. Retrieved November 20, 2016 from http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-483511/Ih8-txt-msgs-How-texting-wrecking-language.html
- Irvine, M. (2012). Is texting ruining the art of conversation? Fear we are losing ability to have additional face-to-face conversation (AP). *The New York Daily News*. Retrieved November 06, 2016 from http://www.nydailynews.com/life-style/texting-ruining-artconversation-fear-losing-ability-traditional-face-to-face-conversations-article-1.1089679

- Kiesler, S., Siegel, J., & McGuire, T. (1984). Social psychological aspects of computer-mediated communications. *American Psychologist*, 39, 1123–1134. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.39.10.1123
- Kiesler, S., & Sproull, L. S. (1992). Group decision making and communication technology. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 52, 96-123. doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(92)90047-B
- King, M. (2016) Use emojis to teach critical reading skills: Use kids' expertise with emojis to help them analyze texts more effectively. *Edutopia*. Retrieved November 24, 2016 from https://www.edutopia.org/article/using-emojis-to-teach-critical-reading-skills-marissaking
- Kluger, J. (2012). We never talk anymore: The problem with text-messaging. *CNN*. Retrieved November 20, 2016 from http://www.cnn.com/2012/08/31/tech/mobile/problem-text-messaging-oms/
- Krauss, R. M., Apple, W., Morencz, N., Wenzel, C., & Winton, W. (1981). Verbal, vocal, and visible factors in judgments of another's affect. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 40, 312-320. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.40.2.312
- Krohn, F. (2004). A generational approach to using emoticons as non-verbal communication. Journal of Technical Writing and Communication, 43, 321–328. doi: 10.2190/9EQH-DE81-CWG1-QLL9
- Kuzmanovic, B., Bente, G., von Cramon, D. Y., Schilbach, L., Tittgemeyer, M., & Vogeley, K.
 (2012). Imaging first impressions: distinct neural processing of verbal and nonverbal social information. *Neuroimage*, *60*, 179-188. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.12.046

- LaFata, A. (2014). 10 reasons texting is awful for society and ruining it too. *Thought Catalog*. Retrieved November 6, 2016 from http://thoughtcatalog.com/alexia-lafata/2014/01/10-reasons-why-texting-is-awful-for-society-and-ruining-it-too/
- Miceli, M. (2015) Smartphones are taking over the U.S. U.S. News and World Report. Retrieved November 20, 2016 from http://www.usnews.com/news/blogs/datamine/2015/10/30/smartphones-are-taking-over-the-us
- Miller, H., Thebault-Spieker, J., Chang, S., Johnson, I., Terveen, L., & Hecht, B. (2016)."Blissfully happy" or "ready to fight": Varying interpretations of emoji. *Proceedings of ICWSM 2016*.
- McCroskey, J. C. (1982). Communication competence and performance: A research and pedagogical perspective. *Communication Education*, 31, 1-7. doi: 10.1080/03634528209384654
- McCroskey, J. C. (1998). *An introduction to communication in the classroom* (2nd ed.). Acton, MA: Tapestry Press.
- McCroskey, J. C., Hamilton, P. R., & Weiner, A. N. (1974). The effect of interaction behavior on source credibility, homophily, and interpersonal attraction. *Human Communication Research*, 1, 42-52. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.1974.tb00252.x
- McCroskey, J. C., & McCain, T. A. (1974). The measurement of interpersonal attraction. *Speech Monographs*, *41*, 261-266. doi: 10.1080/03637757409375845
- McCroskey, J. C., Richmond, V. P., Daly, J. A., & Cox, B. G. (1975). The effects of communication apprehension on interpersonal attraction. *Human Communication Cesearch*, 2, 51-65. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.1975.tb00468.x

McCroskey, J. C., & Teven, J. J. (1999). Goodwill: A reexamination of the construct and its measurement. *Communication Monographs*, 66, 90–103. doi: 10.1080/03637759909376464

- Meyer, R. (2016). What's the plural of emoji? *The Atlantic*. Retrieved November 21, 2016 from http://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2016/01/whats-the-plural-of-emoji-emojis/422763/
- Michele, S. (2016). Why texting should not be used in a new relationship. *The Huffington Post*. Retrieved November 6, 2016 from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/stephaniemichele/why-texting-should-not-be_b_8147536.html
- Norton, R. W., & Pettegrew, L. S. (1977). Communicator style as an effect determinant of attraction. *Communication Research*, *4*, 257-282. doi: 10.1177/009365027700400302
- Novak P., Smailović, J., Sluban, B. & Mozetič, I. (2015). "Sentiment of emojis." *PLOS One*. 10 (12). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144296
- O'Neill, B. (2010). LOL! (laughing online): An investigation of non-verbal communication in computer mediated exchanges. *Working Papers of the Linguistics Circle*, 20, 117-123.
- Obermayer, J. L., Riley, W. T., Asif, O., & Jean-Mary, J. (2004). College smoking-cessation using cell phone text messaging. *Journal of American College Health*, *53*, 71-78. doi: 10.3200/JACH.53.2.71-78
- Oxford (2016). emoji. *The Oxford English Dictionary Online*. Retrieved November 06, 2016 from https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/emoji
- Perrow, C. (1967). A framework for the comparative analysis of organizations. American Sociological Review, 32, 194-208.

- Pettigrew, J. (2009). Text messaging and connectedness within close interpersonal relationships. *Marriage & Family Review*, 45, 697-716. doi: 10.1080/01494920903224269
- Phillips, S. C. (2015). International Morse code. S.C. Phillips. Retrieved November 20, 2016 from http://morsecode.scphillips.com/morse.html

Portio Research (2015). SMS: The language of 6 million people. *Portio Research*. Retrieved November 20, 2016 from http://www.openmarket.com/wpcontent/uploads/2015/10/OpenMarket-Portio-Research-SMS-the-language-of-6-billionpeople.pdf

- Purewal, S. (2015). 10 messages that can only be adequately expressed with emoji. *Greenbot*. Retrieved March 23, 2017 from http://www.greenbot.com/article/2910592/10-messages-that-can-only-be-adequately-expressed-with-emoji.html
- Randolph, W. A., & Finch, F. E. (1977). The relationship between organization technology and the direction and frequency dimensions of task communications. *Human Relations*, 30, 1131–1145. doi: 10.1177/001872677703001205
- Rapoza, K. (2013). One in five Americans work from home, numbers seen rising over 60%. *Forbes*. Retrieved March 23, 2017 from https://www.forbes.com/sites/kenrapoza/2013/02/18/one-in-five-americans-work-fromhome-numbers-seen-rising-over-60/#673e7e1125c1
- Rezabek, L. L., & Cochenour, J. J. (1998). Visual cues in computer-mediated communication:
 Supplementing text with emoticons. *Journal of Visual Literacy*, 18, 201–215. doi: 10.1080/23796529.1998.11674539

- Rice, R. E., & Katz, J. E. (2003). Comparing internet and mobile phone usage: digital divides of usage, adoption, and dropouts. *Telecommunications Policy*, 27, 597-623. doi: 10.1016/S0308-5961(03)00068-5
- Rubin, R. B., Martin, M. M., Bruning, S. S., & Powers, D. E. (1993). Test of a self-efficacy model of interpersonal communication competence. *Communication Quarterly*, *41*, 210-220. doi: 10.1080/01463379309369880

Rutter, D. R. (1987). Communicating by telephone. Oxford: Pergamon Press.

- Sapir, E. (1927). The unconscious patterning of behavior in society. Selected writings of Edward Sapir in language, culture and personality, ed. David E. Mandelbaum (Berkeley: U of California P, 1949), 556.
- Short, J., Williams, E., & Christie, B. (1976). *The social psychology of telecommunications*. Toronto, ON: Wiley.
- Skovholt, K., Grønning, A., & Kankaanranta, A. (2014). The communicative functions of emoticons in workplace e-mails: :-). *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 19, 780-797. doi: 10.1111/jcc4.12063
- Smith, A. (2015) Americans and text messaging. *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved November 06, 2016 from http://www.pewinternet.org/2011/09/19/americans-and-text-messaging/
- Spence, P. R., Lachlan, K. A., Westerman, D., & Spates, S. A. (2013). Where the gates matter less: Ethnicity and perceived source credibility in social media health messages. *Howard Journal of Communications*, 24, 1-16. doi: 10.1080/10646175.2013.748593
- Spitzberg, B. H. (2006). Preliminary development of a model and measure of computer-mediated communication (CMC) competence. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 11, 629-666. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2006.00030.x

- Sproull, L., & Kiesler, S. (1986). Reducing social context cues: Electronic mail in organizational communications. *Management Science*, 32, 1492–1512. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.32.11.1492
- Statista (2016) Number of smartphone users worldwide from 2014 to 2020 (in billions). *Statista*. Retrieved November 22, 2016 from https://www.statista.com/statistics/330695/numberof-smartphone-users-worldwide/
- Sternbergh, A. (2014) Smile, you're speaking emoji: The rapid evolution of a wordless tounge. *The New Yorker*. Retrieved November 7, 2016 from http://nymag.com/daily/intelligencer/2014/11/emojis-rapid-evolution.html
- Sun, P. C., & Cheng, H. K. (2007). The design of instructional multimedia in e-Learning: A Media Richness Theory-based approach. *Computers & Education*, 49, 662-676. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2005.11.016
- Taggart, C. (2015) *New words for old: Recycling our language for the modern world*. Michael O'Mara Books Limited, London UK
- Tanis, M., & Postmes, T. (2003). Social cues and impression formation in CMC. *Journal of Communication*, 53, 676-693. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2003.tb02917.x
- Teven, J. J., & Hanson, T. L. (2004). The impact of teacher immediacy and perceived caring on teacher competence and trustworthiness. *Communication Quarterly*, 52, 39-53. doi: 10.1080/01463370409370177
- Thurlow, C., Lengel, L. & Tomic, A. (2004). *Computer mediated communication: Social interaction and the internet*. London: Sage.
- Tobak, S. (2011). It's not what you say, but how you say it. *CBS Moneywatch*. Retrieved March 9, 2017 from http://www.cbsnews.com/news/its-not-what-you-say-but-how-you-say-it/

Tong, S. T., Van Der Heide, B., Langwell, L., & Walther, J. B. (2008). Too much of a good thing? The relationship between number of friends and interpersonal impressions on Facebook. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 13, 531-549. doi:

10.1111/j.1083-6101.2008.00409.x

- Unicode (2016). The Unicode standard: A technical introduction. *The Unicode Standard*. Retrieved November 20, 2016 from http://www.unicode.org/standard/principles.html
- Unicode (2017). Emoji frequently asked questions. *The Unicode Standard*. Retrieved March 22, 2017 from http://unicode.org/faq/emoji_dingbats.html#4.1
- Van House, N. (2004, October). Weblogs: Credibility and collaboration in an online world.
 Paper prepared for CSCW Workshop on Trust, University of California, Berkely.
 October, 2004
- Warren, C. (2014) Who controls emoji anyway? *Mashable*. Retrieved November 18, 2016 from http://mashable.com/2014/06/18/so-who-controls-emoji-anyway/#cr7CMzCY5kqR
- Westerman, D., Spence, P. R., & Van Der Heide, B. (2014). Social media as information source: Recency of updates and credibility of information. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 19, 171-183. doi: 10.1111/jcc4.12041
- Walther, J. B. (1992). Interpersonal effects in computer-mediated interaction a relational perspective. *Communication Research*, 19, 52-90. doi: 10.1177/009365092019001003
- Walther, J. B. (1996). Computer-mediated communication impersonal, interpersonal, and hyperpersonal interaction. *Communication Research*, 23, 3-43. doi: 10.1177/009365096023001001
- Walther, J. B. (2006). Nonverbal dynamics in computer-mediated communication, or :(and the net :('s with you, :) and you :) alone. In V. Manusov and M. L. Patterson (Eds.), *The Sage*

Handbook of Nonverbal Communication (pp. 461-479). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications

- Walther, J. B., & Burgoon, J. K. (1992). Relational communication in computer-mediated interaction. *Human Communication Research*, 19, 50-88. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.1992.tb00295.x
- Walther, J. B., Anderson, J. F., & Park, D. W. (1994). Interpersonal effects in computermediated interaction: A meta-analysis of social and anti-social communication. *Communication Research*, 21, 460–487.
- Walther, J. B., & D'Addario, K. P. (2001). The impacts of emoticons on message interpretation in computer-mediated communication. *Social Science Computer Review*, *19*, 324-347. doi: 10.1177/089443930101900307
- Walther, J. B., & Tidwell, L. C. (1995). Nonverbal cues in computer-mediated communication, and the effects of chronemics on relational communication. *Journal of Organizational Computing*, 5, 355-378. doi: 10.1080/10919399509540258
- Wiemann, J. M. (1977). Explication and test of a model of communicative competence. *Human Communication Research*, *3*, 195-213. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.1977.tb00518.x
- Wrench, J. S., & Punyanunt-Carter, N. M. (2007). The relationship between computer-mediatedcommunication competence, apprehension, self-efficacy, perceived confidence, and social presence. *Southern Communication Journal*, 72, 355-378. doi: 10.1080/10417940701667696
- Zeigler, J. (1997). Gutenberg, the Scriptoria, and websites. *Journal of Scholarly Publishing*, 29, 36. doi: 10.3138/JSP-029-01-036

- Zmud, R. W., Lind, M. R., & Young, F. W. (1990). An attribute space for organizational communication channels. *Information Systems Research*, 1, 440-457. doi: 10.1287/isre.1.4.440
- Zornoza, A., Prieto, F., Martí, C., & Peiró, J. M. (1993). Group productivity and telematic communication. *European Work and Organizational Psychologist*, *3*, 117-127. doi: 10.1080/09602009308408582
- Zornoza, A., Ripoll, P., & Peiro, J. M. (2002). Conflict management in groups that work in two different communication contexts face-to-face and computer-mediated communication. *Small Group Research*, 33, 481-508. doi: 10.1177/104649602237167

Appendix A

HSIRB Approval Letter

WESTERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY

Human Subjects Institutional Review Board

Date: February 28, 2017

To: Autumn Edwards, Principal Investigator Austin Beattie, Student Investigator for thesis

From: Amy Naugle, Ph.D., Chair My Naugh

Re: HSIRB Project Number 17-02-30

This letter will serve as confirmation that your research project titled "Interpersonal Impressions of Nonverbal Emoji Use in Decision Making" has been **approved** under the **exempt** category of review by the Human Subjects Institutional Review Board. The conditions and duration of this approval are specified in the Policies of Western Michigan University. You may now begin to implement the research as described in the application.

Please note: This research may **only** be conducted exactly in the form it was approved. You must seek specific board approval for any changes in this project (e.g., *you must request a post approval change to enroll subjects beyond the number stated in your application under "Number of subjects you want to complete the study*)." Failure to obtain approval for changes will result in a protocol deviation. In addition, if there are any unanticipated adverse reactions or unanticipated events associated with the conduct of this research, you should immediately suspend the project and contact the Chair of the HSIRB for consultation.

Reapproval of the project is required if it extends beyond the termination date stated below.

The Board wishes you success in the pursuit of your research goals.

Approval Termination:

February 27, 2018

1903 W. Michigan Ave., Kalamazoo, MI 49008-5456 нюме: (269) 387-8293 жи: (269) 387-8276 самець этте: 251 W. Walwood Hall Appendix B

Text-only (Control) condition



Appendix C

Emoticon Condition



Appendix D

Emoji Condition

